FILED
Court of Appeals
Division II
State of Washington
3/24/2022 1:53 PM

FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 3/25/2022 BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

100766-3

WASHINGTON STATE SUPREME COURT

CHARLES FEICK. Petitioner,

v.

THE BRUTSCHE FAMILY REVOCABLE TRUST,
THE ESTATE OF LEOPOLD CHANNING BRUTSCHE,
MICHAEL BRUTSCHE, MARTHA CARR, CHARLES
CARR, CREATIVE SOLUTIONS EQUIPMENT, INC,
Respondents.

ON APPEAL FROM GRAYS HARBOR COUNTY SUPERIOR COURT Hon. David L. Mistachkin

Appellant's Petition for Review

CHARLES FEICK, pro se thekonakid5@gmail.com 1001 Lincoln Street Apt. B-302 Hoquiam, Washington 98550 (360) 774-9269

I. Identity of Petitioner

Appellant Charles respectfully asks this court to accept review of the Court of Appeals decision designated in Part B of this petition.

II. Court of Appeals Decision

Charles Feick respectfully requests review of the Washington State Court of Appeals for Division II Unpublished Opinion dated January 25, 2022¹.

A review of the Order Granting Overlength Brief and Order Denying Motion for Reconsideration dated February 22, 2022².

A review of the Order Denying Motion to Publish dated February 22, 2022³.

III. Issues Presented for Review

- 1. Whether the Washington State Court of Appeals for Division II erred in allowing the Brutsche Family Revocable Trust standing to respond for the receiver in corporate disputes under RCW 7.60.190(e).
- 2. Whether the Washington State Court of Appeals for Division II lacked jurisdiction to hear the appeal, because the Brutsche Family Revocable Trust lacked standing to respond for the receiver in corporate disputes under RCW 7.60.190(e).

¹ Appendix 1, WA COA II Division II Case No. 54963-8, Unpublished Opinion, January 25, 2022.

² Appendix 2, WA COA II Division II Case No. 54963-8, Order Granting Overlength Brief and Order Denying for Reconsideration, February 22, 2022.

³ Appendix 3, WA COA II Division II Case No. 54963-8, Order Denying Motion to Publish, February 22, 2022.

- 3. Whether the Court of Appeals for Division II erred when it failed to rule the trial court failed gave plain effect to the statutory meaning of RCW 7.60.190(e).
- 4. Whether the Washington State Court of Appeals for Division II erred in upholding the trial court's ruling that a Trust could file a receivership rather than a Trustee.
- 5. Whether the Court of Appeals for Division II erred when it failed to rule the trial court failed gave plain effect to the statutory meaning of RCW 7.60.110 (1) and RCW 7.60.110 (2).
- 6. Whether the Court of Appeals for Division II erred when it failed to rule the trial court failed gave plain effect to the statutory meaning of RCW 7.60.160.
- 7. Whether the Court of Appeals for Division II erred when it failed to rule the trial court failed gave plain effect to the statutory meaning of RCW 7.60.160 (2).
- 8. Whether the Court of Appeals for Division II erred when it combed through the record to make arguments not made by any party.
- 9. Whether the Court of Appeals for Division II erred when it made arguments on behalf of the respondents who had waived the issue at the trial court.

IV. Statement of the Case

This appeal is filed by Charles Feick, who alleges that he and the Green Harvest Corporation shareholders were cheated out of sure profit, by the shady business tactics of the defendants, who were his business partners, as well as being GHC Shareholders. Feick alleges the Brutsche Family Revocable Trust, Leopold Channing Brutsche, Michael Brutsche, Martha Carr, and Charles Carr, conspired to remove him from the Green Harvest Corporation (the "GHC") and take over the Green Harvest Cannabis Company (the "GHCC") after WSLCB Licensing had occurred.

The defendants did in fact, perform an ultra-vires Board of Directors takeover, one day after WSLCB Licensing that lasted for 24 days. During these 24-days the defendants voted out two GHC Directors, added a family member to the GHC Board that was not WSLCB DocuSign vetted, created injury to public record per RCW 40.16.010, embezzled and drained the GHC/GHCC business operational account, abandoned the SEC, WA-DFIS, WSLCB, and Shareholder approved Business Plan, after which, they resigned, and walked away from the GHC/GHCC for 16 months until they were served with this complaint.

Defendant Leopold Channing Brutsche, the sole Trustee for the Brutsche Trust, died after the petition for general receivership was filed. Steve Krohn, the Brutsche Trust CPA, was elected as the new sole Trustee. Steve Krohn, who lives in the State of California, does

not qualify as a Washington State resident to hold stock in a WA WSLCB licensed marijuana company as a True Party of Interest

The Trial Judge, the trial Court Clerk, and the Receiver did not assign adjunct case numbers to separate the direct claims from the derivative claims in this case per the statutory authority of the RCW 7.60.160(2), the Receivership Statute.

2) Litigation by or against a receiver is adjunct to the receivership case. The clerk of the court shall assign a cause number that reflects the relationship of any litigation to the receivership case. All pleadings in adjunct litigation shall include the cause number of the receivership case as well as the adjunct litigation number assigned by the clerk of the court. All adjunct litigation shall be referred to the judge, if any, assigned to the receivership case.

A. Company History

On October 19, 2011, the Plaintiff Charles Feick, Founder, incorporates the Green Harvest Corporation, a Washington Domestic Profit Corporation, UBI # 603-156-475, dba The Green Harvest Cannabis Company, to engage in the business activity and expectancy

of producing and processing marijuana in the State of Washington when it becomes legal to do so under the law.

From October 19, 2011, to November 6, 2012, Feick researches and writes the Washington State WSLCB Producers License Application which he presented to WSLCB Board Members on February 7, 2013. This document became the WSLCB research template for Chapter 314-55 WAC and the WSLCB DocuSign applicants questionnaire.

On March 19, 2013, Feick President of the N.W.G.A. I-502 Producer, Processor, Retailer, State Operations, in conjunction with Dana Luce G.O.A.T. Labs I-502 product testing, and Justin Dufour Viridian Sciences I-502 product tracking systems, demonstrated Feick's I-502 Producer to Processor to Retailer to WA State Taxation Model at WSLCB Headquarters at 3000 Pacific Avenue Olympia WA.

From December 13, 2013, to February 15, 2014, Charles Feick came in contact with Charles Carr, Martha Carr, Leopold Channing Brutsche, the Trustee for the Brutsche Family Revocable Trust, and Steve Krohn, the CPA for the Trust.

On February 15, 2015, Steve Krohn approves of the Brutsche Trust, Leopold Brutsche, and Martha Carr's equity investment in the GHC/GHCC. This begins the WSLCB DocuSign True Party of Interest eligibility process to own equity in a WSLCB Marijuana License.

On or about February 16, 2015, Charles Feick meets Gershom Spengler and initiates negotiations to sell GHC/GHCC to the Spengler Group. On October 2015 Spengler Group makes an offer of 2.1 Million dollars for GHC/GHCC WSLCB Licenses and the site property.

The defendants the Brutsche Trust, Leopold Channing Brutsche, and Steve Krohn, CPA bungled the Spengler Group offer losing the opportunity to acquire sure and easy profit, without incurring any of the site buildout site expenses the defendants now complain about. (CP 20)

The defendants then began a process of inflating Feick's trust notes and saddling the company with debt, by handing over critical positions for the company build-out, to friends and family members, who bilked and mismanaged the company, while delaying the opening

of the GHCC. This was a critical and defining moment for the company that harmed Feick directly and derivatively along with the other shareholders. (CP 23)

On July 24, 2017, Martha Carr sent notice to Feick for what is the start of a precontrived process to remove Charles Feick from GHC/GHCC. The defendant's create injury to public record with filings to the WA Secretary of State, and the Washington State Liquor and Cannabis Board. The defendants abandoned the SEC-WSLCB-Shareholder approved Business Plan and drained the money from the GHC/GHCC Operational bank account. (CP 698-699)

On August 17, 2017, the defendants were unable to establish Federal and WSLCB I-502 legitimacy and resigned to abandon the GHC/GHCC until they were served with the complaint on December 5, 2018. (CP 701)

On December 5, 2018, Feick facilitated the Annual GHC Shareholder meeting to provide corporate performance reports and to address company issues. The Shareholders arrived for the meeting and Feick served the Shareholder's Verified Derivative and Direct on the defendants the Brutsche Trust, Leopold Channing Brutsche, and

Michael Brutsche at the conclusion of the meeting. Martha Carr and Charles Carr were served that afternoon.

On December 19, 2018, Feick filed the Amended Shareholder's Verified and Direct Complaint to better define his direct claims and provided Certificate of Service to all defendants.

Feick alleges the Brutsche Family Revocable Trust, Leopold Channing Brutsche, Michael Brutsche, Martha Carr, and Charles Carr conspired to remove Feick from the company and take over the Green Harvest Corporation and the Green Harvest Cannabis Company.

Feick filed a direct and derivative action against the defendants and alleged the declaration of Keith Dahl⁴ and the actions of the defendants prove his allegations (CP 868-871)

B. Case History

On December 5, 2018, Feick filed the original complaint and served it upon the defendants at a board meeting (CP 631-671) On December 19, 2018, Feick filed an Amended Shareholder's Verified Derivative and Direct Complaint. (CP 674-716)

8

⁴ Plaintiff's Motion for Summary Judgement for Direct Claims dated 1/29/21, Declaration of Keith Dahl dated February 10, 2019. CP 868 – CP 871.

On March 27, 2019, the Brutsche Trust filed its Petition for Appointment of General Receiver to appoint RTC as receiver of the Corporation (the "Petition"), which motion was also served on the WSLCB as required by law. (CP 1-17)

On June 6, 2019, represented by Attorney Amos Hunter and Attorney Brad Drury, Feick files a response in opposition to the Petition. (CP 18-99)

On June 19, 2019, after hearing argument, and with no opposition from the WSLCB, the trial court grants the Order for Appointment of General Receiver appointing RTC to serve as receiver of the Corporation to preserve, liquidate, and dissolve the Corporation. (CP 117, CP 118-133.)

On June 28, 2019, Feick's counsel filed a Motion for Reconsideration. On July 9, 2019, the trial court denied the Motion for Reconsideration. (CP 136-210, CP 221)

On April 28, 2020, RTC files a Motion for Authorization to Allow an Application for Assumption of License asking the Court to approve the sale of the Corporation's cannabis licenses.

On June 4, 2020, the RTC, (the "Receiver") filed a Notice of Hearing for a Motion for Authorization to Allow an Application for Assumption of License (the WSLCB/GHC Marijuana-Producer/Processor License #413339) noted for June 29, 2020. The Order was signed by Grays Harbor Superior Court Judge Mistachkin on June 29, 2020, granting the application of the assumption of the WSLCB/GHC Marijuana License #413339 to Jimmy O's Grow LLC in Burlington Washington. (CP 1211-1214)

On July 14, 2020, the RTC filed a Notice of Hearing for Receiver's Motion to Approve Settlement Agreement and Dismissal of Derivative Claims noted for August 24, 2020. (CP-222-228.)

On July 24, 2020, Feick filed a Notice of Hearing for Plaintiff's Motion Opposing Defendant's Proof of Claims in General Receivership noted for August 24, 2020. On August 24, 2020, Feick struck and re-noted the Motion for August 31, 2020.

On August 4, 2020, Feick filed a Notice of Hearing for Plaintiff's Motion to Terminate General Receivership Pursuant to RCW 7.60.290(5) and for CR 11 Sanctions noted for August 17, 2020. (CP 240-256.)

On August 11, 2020, Feick filed a Notice of Hearing for Plaintiff's Motion to Vacate Order Pursuant to CR 60B(4),(11), and CR 12H(3), and for CR 11 Sanctions noted for August 24, 2020. (CP-298-316.)

On August 17, 2020, the trial court allowed the jurisdiction and standing arguments brought by Feick, against the Trust et al, and ruled both Feick motions would be heard on August 24, 2020, including the Receiver's Motion Approving Settlement Agreement and Dismissal of Derivative Claims. The trial court struck the Defendant's responses calling for CR 11 sanctions to Feick's motions.

On August 19, 2020, per the language in RCW 7.60.190(e), Feick files Plaintiff's Response and Opposition to Receiver's Motion to Approve Settlement Agreement and Dismissal of Derivative Claims. (CP 407-415)

On August 20, 2020, the Defendant Brutsche Trust filed the Brutsche's Response to Plaintiff's Motion Opposing Defendant's Proof of Claims in General Receivership. The Brutsche Trust has now answered with a response brief that should have been written and filed by the Receiver. This is a violation of RCW 7.60.190(e) because the

receiver statute is specific citing that only the receiver has standing to answer the plaintiff's briefs.

On August 20, 2020, the Defendant Brutsche Trust filed the Brutsche's Response to Plaintiff's Motion to Terminate General Receivership Pursuant to RCW 7.60.290 and for CR 11 Sanctions and Motion to Vacate Order Pursuant to CR 60B(4),(11) and CR 12H(3), and for CR 11 Sanctions. Clearly, the Brutsche Trust has now become counsel for the receivership and is now co-receiver answering litigation on behalf of the court appointed receiver⁵. (CP 456-526)

On August 19, 2020, per the language in RCW 7.60.190(e), Feick files Plaintiff's Response and Opposition to Receiver's Motion to Approve Settlement Agreement and Dismissal of Derivative Claims. (CP 407-415)

On August 24, 2020, the trial court did not rule on the merits of the Trust's standing. The Receiver's Motion to Approve Settlement Agreement and Dismissal of Derivative Claims was granted. Feick's Motion Opposing Defendant's Proof of Claims in General

-

⁵ Appendix 4, The Brutsche's Response to Plaintiff's Motion to Terminate General Receivership Pursuant to RCW 7.60.290 and for CR 11 Sanctions and Motion to Vacate Order Pursuant to CR 60B(4),(11) and CR 12H(3), and for CR 11 Sanctions dated August 20, 2020.

Receivership noted for August 31, 2020, was struck by the trial court. (CP 553-554.)

On September 1, 2020, Feick filed a Notice of Discretionary Review for trial court orders dated June 19, 2019, and August 25, 2020, at Grays Harbor Superior Court.

On September 23, 2020, the WA COA II assigned Case No. 54963-8 and converted the Notice of Discretionary Review to a Notice of Appeals as a matter of right.

On October 8, 2020, Feick filed the Motion for Emergency Stay of Enforcement of Trial Court Rulings Pursuant to RAP 8.1(b)(3) in WA COA II Case No. 54963-8.

On October 15, 2020, the Brutsche Trust filed an Answer to Appellant's Motion for Emergency Stay.

On October 19, 2020, Feick filed the Plaintiff's Reply to Defendant's Answer to Motion for Emergency Stay.

On October 21, 2020, the WA COA II Commissioner's Ruling Denying Motion for Emergency Stay.

On October 22, 2020, Feick filed a Motion to Reconsider of the trial court's two rulings on October 12, 2020. (CP 558-629.)

On October 23, 2020, the trial court denied the Motion to Reconsider. (CP 630.)

On November 2, 2020, Feick filed a Motion to Modify the Commissioner's Ruling Pursuant to RAP Rule 17.7.

On November 13, 2020, the Brutsche Trust filed the Response to Motion to Modify Commissioner's Ruling Pursuant to RAP Rule 17.7.

On November 20, 2020, Feick filed Plaintiff's Reply to Brutsche Trust's Response to Motion to Modify Commissioner's Ruling Pursuant to Rap Rule 17.7.

On November 20, 2020, Feick filed an Amended Notice of Discretionary Review for trail court orders dated October 12, 2020, and October 23, 2020.

On December 15, 2020, the WA COA II Perfection Letter assigning Case No. 55213-2 consolidating with Case No. 54963-8.

On January 28, 2021, the WA COA II Commissioner's Ruling Denying Motion to Modify Commissioner's Ruling.

On February 3, 2021, Feick filed the Appellant's Opening Brief.

On March 23, 2021, the defendant Brutsche Trust filed the Respondent Brutsche Brief and Motion to Dismiss.

On April 23, 2021, Feick filed the Appellant's Reply Brief.

On January 28, 2022, the WA COA II Commissioner's filed an Unpublished Opinion in Case No. 54963-8 consolidated with Case No. 55213-3.

On February 14, 2022, Feick filed the Appellant's Motion for Reconsideration and Motion to Publish.

On February 22, 2022, the WA COA II Commissioner's Order Denying Motion for Reconsideration and Order Denying Motion to Publish.

On March 24, 2022, Feick filed the Petition for Review at Washington State Supreme Court.

V. Argument Why Review Should Be Accepted

A. Standard for review.

RAP Rule 13.4(b) governs acceptance of review by the Washington State Supreme Court as shown below:

(b) Considerations Governing Acceptance of Review. A petition for review will be accepted by the Supreme Court only:

- (1) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court; or
- (2) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with another decision of the Court of Appeals; or
- (3) If a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United States is involved; or
- (4) If the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court.

B. Review should be accepted pursuant to RAP Rule 13.4(b)(1).

Feick respectfully argues review should be accepted because the decision meets the criteria in RAP Rule 13.4(b)(1), because the ruling conflicts with previous Supreme Court precedent on statutory interpretations, standing and jurisdiction, interpretations of RAP rules, and making arguments for counsel not found on the record..

Feick respectfully argues that the Court of Appeals for Division II erred when it did not uphold Washington State Supreme Court Case Law In Lowman v. Guie, 130 Wash. 606, 607, 228 P. 845 (1924) (holding that under Washington incorporation statutes, a "commonlaw trust" is not a corporate entity), holding A trust is not an entity

distinct from its trustees and capable of legal action on its own behalf.

To date, all briefs filed by the Trust's attorneys have a fatal flaw in that they seek relief for the trust and not the trustee.

Feick also respectfully argues the Washington State Court of Appeals for Division II rulings failed to uphold previous Supreme Court case precedence for giving effect to the plain meaning of RCW 7.60.110 (1), RCW 7.60.110 (2), RCW 7.60.160, RCW 7.60.160(2) and RCW 7.60.190 (e) found in Supreme Court cases Agrilink Foods. Inc. v. Dep't of, 153 Wn.2d 392,396, 103 P.3d 1226 (2005), Doe v. Wash. State Dep't of Fish & Wildlife, 5 Wn. App. 2d 1038, 5 Wash. App. 2d 1038 (Wash. Ct. App. 2018), Federal Home Loan Bank v. Credit Suisse Securities (USA) LLC, 194 Wn.2d 253 (2019) Freedom Found. v. Teamsters Local 117 Segregated Fund, 197 Wash. 2d 116, 480 P.3d 1119 (Wash. 2021), State v. Dennis, 191 Wn.2d 169, 421 P.3d 944, (Wash Ct App. 2018), State v. Yancey, 434 P.3d 518 (Wash. 2019)TracFone Wireless, Inc. v. Dept. of Revenue, 170 Wn.2d 273,281,242 P.3d 810 (2010), when it ruled the receiver statute was only intended for actions and suits by the receiver and not pending actions brought by a shareholder, and when it ruled a shareholder

could take over the receivership to address filings under RCW 7.60.190(e).

The Washington State Court of Appeals for Division II rulings Also failed to uphold previous Supreme Court case precedence for interpreting a statute and giving legislative intent found in of Ecology v. Campbell & Gwinn, LLC, 146 Wn. 2d 1,9-10, 43 P.3d 4 (2002) Lake v. Woodcreek Homeowners Ass 'n, 169 Wn.2d 516,526, P.3d 1283 (2010) and State v. Wolvelaere, 461 P.3d 1173 (2020), when it ruled the receiver statute was only intended for actions and suits by the receiver and not pending actions brought by a shareholder, and when it ruled a shareholder could take over the receivership to address filings under RCW 7.60.190(e).

The Washington State Court of Appeals for Division II rulings failed to uphold previous Supreme Court case precedence for interpreting a statute and not adding words in the Supreme Court ruling in Dot Foods, Inc. v. Washington Dept. of Revenue, 166 Wn.2d 912, 920, 215 P.3d 185 (2009), when it ruled the receiver statute was only intended for actions and suits by the receiver and not pending actions brought by a shareholder, and when it ruled a

shareholder could take over the receivership to address filings under RCW 7.60.190 (e).

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