FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
5/12/2022 3:39 PM
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

No. 100766-3

### WASHINGTON STATE SUPREME COURT

### CHARLES FEICK,

Petitioner,

v.

### THE BRUTSCHE FAMILY REVOCABLE TRUST, ET AL.,

Respondents.

### RESPONDENTS THE BRUTSCHES' ANSWER TO "APPELLANT'S PETITION FOR REVIEW"

Brian W. Esler MILLER NASH LLP Pier 70 2801 Alaskan Way, Ste 300 Seattle, WA 98121 206.624.8300

> Attorneys for Respondents The Brutsche Family Revocable Trust, The Estate of Leo Brutsche, and Michael Brutsche

### **

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

against the Corporation; the Receiver agreed to dismiss the derivative claims. CP 1560-1566. As the Receiver explained:

Maintaining Green Harvest's claims in the Lawsuit is burdensome and untenable maintain. to Upon evaluation of the claims, RTC believes that the Lawsuit is of inconsequential value to the estate, that the probability of success in the litigation against the Brutsches is low, and that the litigation is complex, with multiple parties and claims. Approval of the Settlement will assist the Receiver in bringing the receivership closure to satisfying a contingency to closing the sale of the rights to apply to the WSLCB to assume the License, shrinking the claims pool through withdrawal of the Brutsches' specified proofs of claim, and generating the proceeds that will be available for distribution to creditors. In short, the costs to maintain the Lawsuit outweigh the benefits of potential recovery.

CP 1558-1559. The hearing on the Receiver's motion was set for August 24, 2020.

In response, Feick filed a flurry of motions and objections, including a motion to terminate the receivership (CP 240-254) and a motion to vacate the Receivership Order. CP 298-316. The Brutsches, the other shareholders, and the Receiver all opposed those motions.

Despite Feick's attempts to get his motions heard before the Receiver's motion, with the other parties' agreement, the superior court agreed to hear Feick's motion on August 24, 2020. RP (8/17/20) at 22:8-12. However, the superior court also found Feick's refusal to re-note his motion was sanctionable conduct. RP (8/17/20) at 26:8-13, 23-24. Rather than impose monetary sanctions then which Feick claimed he could not pay, the superior court ordered Feick to turn over his financial records. RP (8/17/20) at 27:21-25, 28:18-23, 29:5-9.

At the hearing on August 24, 2020, the superior court heard Feick's motions first (including his objections to the Trust's standing), and denied them. RP (8/24/20) at 64:14-68:11. Feick continued arguing with the judge even after he had entered his ruling, and ultimately the trial judge found him to be in contempt and fined him \$250. RP (8/24/20) at 70:15-16.

Turning to the Receiver's motions, the Receiver explained the terms of the proposed settlement to the court, including that the Brutsches would be releasing about \$1.2 million in claims against the estate. RP (8/24/20) at 71:14-73:23. The Receiver also explained that the WSLCB had approved the assignment of the License to a new owner. RP (8/24/20) at 81:21-82:3. The superior court ultimately granted the Receiver's motion. RP (8/24/20) at 82:16-19.6

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> Finally, the superior court considered the issue of sanctions against Mr. Feick. Although he found Feick's behavior sanctionable, the trial judge let Feick off with a warning. RP (8/24/20) at 86:7-19. The superior court also allowed Feick to pay off the contempt sanction with community service if he preferred. RP (8/24/20) at 87:2-12.

The superior court entered its written order approving the settlement and dismissing the derivative claims on September 1, 2020. CP 572-574. On about September 2, 2020, Feick filed a "Notice of Discretionary Review," which sought review of "the order granting the Petition for General Receivership granted on June 16, 2019, and the Receiver's Motion for Settlement Agreement and Dismissal of Derivative Claims granted on August 24, 2020." CP 555.

The superior court did not enter the actual written orders denying Feick's motions to terminate the receivership and vacate the Receivership Order until October 12, 2020. CP 576-587.

Those orders confirm that the Trust had standing to seek appointment of a receiver; even were that not so, trustees Leo Brutsche and Steven Krohn both ratified the Trust's petition. CP 577. The superior court also noted that the Trust's petition was independently supported by other shareholders in the

Corporation. CP 577; see also CP 970-971, 1104-1105, 1113-1114 (shareholder declarations supporting receivership). The superior court affirmed that when the Trust filed its petition, the Corporation "was in financial trouble with substantial debts." CP 577. Further, the superior court found that, given the Corporation's documented problems, the superior court "could have exercised this authority [to appoint a receiver] on its own even absent a petition, and the Receivership Order was thus independently proper under RCW 7.60.025." CP 577.

Further, the superior court noted that Feick had attended the June 29, 2020, hearing granting the Receiver's motion for authorization to sell the License, and that he did not object to that relief. CP 578, 584. The superior court also noted that the WSLCB did not object to the appointment of the Receiver or the sale of the License, and had not joined in Feick's motions to terminate, or to vacate. CP 578, 584. The superior court

specifically found that there "has been no showing of misrepresentation, wrongdoing, bad faith, or other circumstances that would support or justify the termination of the receivership that this Court established in June 2019," CP 578; *see also* CP 584 (making similar findings).

Eleven days later on October 22, 2020, Feick filed a motion for reconsideration of those orders. CP 588-605. The superior court denied that motion the next day. CP 630. On November 20, 2020 (more than 30 days after the superior court entered written orders on October 12), Feick filed an "Amended Notice of Discretionary Review," which added the "court orders signed October 12, 2020, and October 23, 2020, to the appeal." CP 582-587, 630.

Meanwhile, on October 9, 2020, Feick filed a "Motion for Emergency Stay of Enforcement of Trial Court Rulings Pursuant to RAP 8.1(b)(3)" in the Court of Appeals. In that motion, Feick

sought an "emergency stay" of enforcement of the June 19, 2019, Receivership Order, as well as the August 24, 2020, order approving the settlement agreement and dismissing the derivative claims. The Commissioner denied that motion on October 21, 2020. On January 28, 2021, this Court denied Feick's motion for reconsideration of the Commissioner's ruling.

This appeal and other appeals followed.

#### III. ARGUMENT

Generally, Feick argues that the Court of Appeals did not uphold this Court's case law regarding: (i) the entity status of a trust; (ii) the meaning of RCW 7.60.110(1)-(2), RCW 7.60.160(1)-(2), and RCW 7.60.190(e); (iii) the statutory interpretation; (iv) standing and jurisdiction; and (v) the Court of Appeals' scope of review and bases for decisions. Feick also argues that review is warranted because the Court of Appeals has sanctioned him for exercising his rights.

None of Feick's claims survives scrutiny. The Court of Appeals followed and applied governing case law. Its findings are correct. Feick does not come close to meeting his burden of showing any of the criteria in RAP 13.4(b). The Court of Appeals correctly held that the superior court did not err in its various decisions. This Court should deny review.

- A. This Court should deny review because none of the review criteria under RAP 13.4 are present—the Court of Appeals' 15-page unpublished opinion is well-reasoned and sound.
  - 1. The Brutsches did not concede any of Feick's frivolous arguments.

As he has before, Feick claims that the Brutsches "waived and conceded" standing, jurisdictional, and statutory interpretation arguments and that the Court of Appeals erred by making arguments on the Brutsches' behalf. Petition, at 2, 25. Those statements are categorically false. Indeed, as explained below, Feick's arguments are incorrect, and the Brutsches did not

and do not concede to any of his nonsense. *See generally* Respondents Brutsche's Brief and Motion to Dismiss dated March 23, 2021, Court of Appeals, Case No. 54963-8-II.

Regardless, Feick still does not show any of the review criteria under RAP 13.4. That is all that matters.

# 2. The Court of Appeals correctly affirmed the superior court's decision appointing a general receiver.

Below, Feick argued that the superior court erred in granting the petition for a general receivership and that it should have instead appointed a custodial receiver.<sup>7</sup> In his view, the Corporation was in a good position and appointment of a general receiver was not necessary.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> Feick also argued that the superior court should not have created a receivership at all. However, because Feick advocated for a custodial receivership below, the Court of Appeals correctly determined that the argument fails under the invited error doctrine. *See Angelo Prop. Co., LP v. Hafiz*, 167 Wn. App. 789, 823, 274 P.3d 1075 (2012).

The Court of Appeals properly concluded that the superior court did not abuse its discretion in appointing a general receiver because there was ample evidence that a comprehensive management approach was necessary. *See Mony Life Ins. Co.*, 135 Wn. App. 948, 952-53, 148 P.3d 1065 (2006) ("A [superior] court abuses its discretion when its decision is manifestly unreasonable, or exercised on untenable grounds, or for untenable reasons.") (internal quotation marks and citation omitted); *see also* RCW 7.60.025(1)(u); RCW 7.60.015.

3. The Court of Appeals correctly affirmed the superior court's decisions denying Feick's motions to vacate and terminate receivership.

Below, Feick argued that the superior court erred in denying his motions to vacate and terminate the receivership under RCW 7.60.290(5) because the receivership was procured wrongfully or in bad faith. Specifically, Feick claimed that because the Trust and its trustee misrepresented themselves as

"parties of interest" that could request a receivership, the superior court should have terminated and vacated the receivership.

The Court of Appeals correctly concluded that the superior court did not abuse its discretion by denying Feick's motions to terminate and vacate the receivership. See Bero v. Name Intelligence, Inc., 195 Wn. App. 170, 179, 381 P.3d 71 (2016) (the court reviews a decision of whether to terminate a receivership for an abuse of discretion). Put simply, the Trust had an interest in the Corporation because it was a shareholder, and the Trust's trustee had authority to act on the Trust's behalf. This interest in the Corporation allowed the Trust, through its trustee, to initially request the receivership. RCW 7.60.025(u) (A receiver may be appointed by the superior court when dissolution of a private entity is sought if an appointment is requested by "a person having an interest in such an entity."); CP 577.

## 4. The Court of Appeals correctly affirmed the superior court's decision denying Feick's motion for reconsideration.

Below, Feick argued that the superior court should have granted his motion for reconsideration of the superior court's approval of the settlement and denial of his motions to vacate and terminate the receivership. Specifically, Feick contended that the superior court was divested of jurisdiction when it failed (1) to stay the case under RCW 7.60.110(1)(a), and (2) to assign an adjunct case number (which Feick asserted is required under RCW 7.60.160(2)).

The Court of Appeals correctly found that the superior court did not err in denying Feick's motion for reconsideration because the statutory provisions for stays and adjunct case numbers in receiverships do not apply here.

First, below, Feick did not provide authority to support his argument that a failure to issue a stay under RCW 7.60.110

divested the superior court of jurisdiction. Even assuming that a violation of the statute could have this result, the superior court actually ordered a stay of proceedings under RCW 7.60.110 as part of its order appointing a receiver. CP 118-133.

Second, Feick's interpretation of the statute is overly broad. Below, Feick appeared to argue that the superior court should have stayed all proceedings indefinitely. But, in addition to only requiring a stay for 60 days, the statute only applies to actions in which the entity in receivership is a defendant (as in a proceeding "against the person over whose property the receiver is appointed"). RCW 7.60.110. Because the superior court case was originally postured as a shareholder derivative suit, the Corporation is more properly aligned as a plaintiff. Nothing on the record indicates that the Corporation has substantively acted as a defendant. Indeed, the Corporation entered into a settlement agreement as a plaintiff with the defendants.

Third, relying on RCW 7.60.160(2), Feick also argued the superior court was divested of jurisdiction because it failed to assign an adjunct case number. The plain language of the statute requires the superior court to assign an adjunct case number to litigation "by or against a receiver." RCW 7.60.160(2). The statute ensures that litigation involving a receiver remains separate from the case in which a receiver is actually appointed. RCW 7.60.160(2). It applies only to situations where a receiver is an actual party to the litigation, either as a plaintiff or a defendant. RCW 7.60.160(2).

Feick provided no support for his argument that the superior court's jurisdiction is affected by allegedly violating this statute. But even if there was authority, similar to the stay provision discussed above, RCW 7.60.160 does not apply in this case. Although the Receiver was appointed as part of this action, there is no litigation by or against the Receiver at issue in this

case. The Receiver is neither a plaintiff nor a defendant in this action. Because the Receiver is not a party to this action, the superior court was not required to assign an adjunct case number.

Accordingly, the Court of Appeals correctly affirmed the superior court's decision denying Feick's motion for reconsideration.

### 5. The Court of Appeals did not improperly sanction Feick.

Feick also argues that review is warranted because the public should "know that they could be sanctioned thousands of dollars for exercising their rights as they appear in the receiver statute without" a published appellate decision. Petition at 25. Feick's muddled argument fails because, among other things, the Court of Appeals' January 2022 decision denied the Brutsches' request for sanctions and attorney's fees under RAP 18.9.

### B. The Court should award the Brutsches fees and costs under RAP 18.9.

Feick promised to wage a "war of attrition" against the Brutsche. CP 983, 1009. He has used his *pro se* posture to pepper the superior court, the Washington Court of Appeals, and this Court with meritless filings meant more to harass the Brutsches (and others) and waste time than to raise any legitimate arguments. The superior court, the Court of Appeals, and this Court have sanctioned Feick for such behavior and tactics in this litigation; this Court should sanction Feick again.

This Court can order a party "who uses these rules for the purpose of delay, files a frivolous appeal, or fails to comply with these rules, to pay terms or compensatory damages" to any other

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> See, e.g., Ruling Awarding Attorney Fees dated March 10, 2022, Court of Appeals Case No. 55686-3-II (awarding the Brutsches \$2,546.55 in attorney's fees against Feick); Order dated June 30, 2021, Washington Supreme Court, Case No. 99542-7 (awarding the Brutsches reasonable attorney's fees and expenses).

party harmed. RAP 18.9. An appeal is frivolous if it presents no debatable issues on which reasonable minds can differ and is so devoid of merit that there is no possibility of reversal. In re Recall Charges against Feetham, 149 Wn.2d 860, 872, 72 P.3d (2003). Respondents who have to defend against 741 unwarranted appeals of receivership orders have been awarded fees under RAP 18.9 before. Seth Burrill Prods., Inc. v. Rebel Creek Tackle, Inc., 2017 WL 1334440, at \*7 (April 11, 2017). This Court should find that Feick's Petition presents no debatable issues, award the Brutsches their reasonable attorney fees for having to defend against Feick's frivolous Petition, and condition Feick's right to participate further on payment of such sanctions. RAP 18.9(a).

### IV. <u>CONCLUSION</u>

For the reasons stated above, this Court should decline to accept review, and award the Brutsches their reasonable fees and expenses incurred in connection with Feick's meritless Petition.

I certify that this response contains 4,927 words in compliance with RAP 18.17.p

Respectfully submitted,

s/ Brian W. Esler

Brian W. Esler, WSB No. 22168 Miller Nash LLP Pier 70, 2801 Alaskan Way, Ste 300 Seattle, WA 98121 Email: brian.esler@millernash.com

Attorneys for Respondents
The Brutsche Family
Revocable Trust, The Estate
of Leo Brutsche, and Michael
Brutsche

4862-2614-2749.2

# FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 5/12/2022 3:39 PM BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

No. 100766-3

### WASHINGTON STATE SUPREME COURT

#### CHARLES FEICK,

Appellant,

v.

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